RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 25, 2015, 2:31 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 45925-6-II

E CRE

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

93393-6

Heritage Restoration, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Douglas S. Radabaugh and Shirley Radabaugh,

Petitioners.

### **Petition for Review**

Benjamin D. Cushman Attorney for Petitioners with

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183

WSBA # 26358

Kevin Hochhalter Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183



# **

## 1. Identity of Petitioner

Douglas and Shirley Radabaugh, Defendants in the trial court and Appellants in the Court of Appeals, petition this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision specified below.

### 2. Court of Appeals Decision

Heritage Restoration, Inc. v. Radabaugh, No. 45925-6-II (Aug. 26, 2015).

A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix at pages \_\_\_\_\_.

#### 3. Issues Presented for Review

- Whether Radabaugh's discharge under the U.S. Bankrupty
   Code discharged Heritage's claim to funds in the court registry.
- 2. Whether the trial court's conclusion that the funds belonged to Heritage is unsupported by the court's findings of fact or by substantial evidence in the record.
- 3. Whether the trial court's conclusion that the funds belonged to Heritage improperly conflicted with the unchallenged final judgment in the case and the underlying findings of fact and conclusions of law.
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in granting attorney fees to Heritage pursuant to contract.

#### 4. Statement of the Case

Radabaughs' home was damaged by failure of the roof under snow and rain. CP 34. After filing a claim with their insurer, Grange Insurance, Radabaughs hired Heritage to restore the interior of the home. CP 34. In their contract with Heritage, Radabaughs agreed to pay for the work "upon receipt of invoice from [Heritage]" and to "forward [to Heritage] all draws issued as partial or full payment" of the claim. CP 13. The parties understood that it was likely that insurance proceeds would exceed the amount charged for the work, and if that was the case, the proceeds would remain with Radabaughs. CP 35.

Radabaughs were dissatisfied with the work and refused to pay. See CP 39. Radabaughs twice tendered payment in accord and satisfaction, but Heritage never cashed the checks. CP 39. Radabaughs never made any payment to Heritage. CP 39.

Heritage filed a complaint for breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and lien foreclosure. CP 4-22. Grange wanted to close its case, so the parties agreed to an order allowing Grange to pay its final installment of \$17,157.50 into the registry of the court. CP 29-30, 68. The parties' stipulation noted, "Plaintiffs and defendants have a dispute in this case as to whom the funds properly belong."

After trial, the court entered detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 34-47. The court held that Heritage failed to properly invoke Radabaughs' obligation to pay under the contract. CP 46. However, the court held that Radabaughs were obligated to pay *quantum meruit* for the work that was completed up to a proper standard of workmanship. CP 46-47. The court awarded Heritage a judgment for \$20,600, consisting of the value of the work offset by the cost of repairs to Heritage's work. CP 47-50. Neither party appealed this judgment.

Radabaughs filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. CP 61. Heritage received notice of the bankruptcy as a creditor subject to discharge. CP 70. The Bankruptcy Court granted Radabaughs a discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 727 on February 27, 2012. CP 74.

The parties returned to the trial court on Heritage's motion for release of the funds in the court registry. Heritage argued that it was the owner of the funds because Radabaughs had legally or equitably assigned the funds to Heritage when Radabaughs signed the contract for the work. RP, Mar. 30, 2012, at 3-6. Radabaughs argued that the bankruptcy discharged Heritage's judgment and any other claim that Heritage might have to the funds in the court registry, RP (Mar. 30, 2012) at 6-9; that there was no evidence of any assignment, RP (Mar. 30, 2012) at 10-11; and that a finding that the funds belonged to Heritage would improperly conflict with the unchallenged findings, conclusions, and judgment in the underlying case, RP (Mar. 30, 2012) at 11-12, RP (Feb. 21, 2014) at 10, 12-13.

The trial court questioned how it could be equitable to allow Radabaughs to keep the funds from the registry. RP (Mar. 30, 2012) at 8-9. Without making any findings of fact in its oral decision, the trial court granted Heritage's motion. RP (Feb. 21, 2014) at 15-16. The trial court's written order did not include any findings of fact relating to an assignment of the funds. CP 116-19. Nevertheless, the trial court ordered, "Heritage is the owner of the funds on deposit with the registry of the court, and is the party entitled to the same, because the Radabaughs legally or equitably assigned the funds to Heritage." CP 118.

Radabaughs appealed the order under RAP 2.2(a)(13) as "a final order after judgment affecting a substantial right." CP 120. The majority decision of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court on the grounds that Radabaughs failed to properly assign error to the trial court decision. App. 8. The dissent by Judge Linda Lee rejected the majority's refusal to address the merits of the case. App. 13-14. The dissent thoroughly analyzed the issues and determined that the trial court had abused its discretion because the Radabaughs' debt had been discharged and there was no evidence that Radabaughs had assigned the funds to Heritage. App. 15-22. Radabaughs seek review of the majority opinion in this Court.

### 5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court or with another decision of the Court of Appeals or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). Radabaughs' petition qualifies under any of these criteria.

# 5.1 The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other decisions.

5.1.1 The majority's reliance on Radabaughs' alleged failure to assign error to the trial court's order to disburse conflicts with *CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete LLC*, 180 Wn. App. 379, 392, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014).

The majority refused to engage Radabaughs' arguments, holding instead that Radabaughs failed to assign error to the trial court's order to

disburse. App. 8-9. The majority "affirm[ed] the trial court because the assignments of error and issues the Radabaughs raise are inadequate to merit review." App. 9. The majority justified its decision by citing CalPortland Co. u LevelOne Concrete LLC, 180 Wn. App. 379, 392, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014), for the proposition that the court "will not address issues that a party does not raise appropriately." App. 7.

However, the CalPortland court also explained that where a party's brief makes it clear "what part of the decision below is being challenged, ... we will overlook the party's failure to specifically assign error to it."

CalPortland, 180 Wn. App. at 392. In CalPortland, the appellant assigned error to the trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment but did not specifically call out the trial court's alternative grounds for granting the motion. Id. However, the appellant's brief devoted substantial argument to why that alternative ground was error. Id. The CalPortland court noted the mandate of RAP 1.2 that "[t]hese rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits," and addressed the merits of the issue. Id.

Here, as pointed out by the dissent, Radabaughs first assignment of error stated, "The Trial Court Erred in Disbursing Money Held in the Registry of Court to Heritage..." Br. of Appellant at 2; App. 13. "Radabaugh presented six pages of argument to support the contention that the trial court erred in disbursing the funds held in the court registry to Heritage." App. 13. Just as in *CalPortland*, Radabaughs' briefing made it clear what part of the decision below was being challenged.

The majority claimed to address the merits of the case, but in reality it did not. The majority's decision was still based on the incorrect notion that Radabaughs failed to assign error to the trial court's decision that Heritage owned the funds:

Therefore, after considering evidence at trial and in the motions to disburse, the trial court found that Heritage, not the Radabaughs, owned the funds. The Radabaughs do not challenge this finding. We cannot say the trial court abused its discretion in disbursing the funds to Heritage.

App. 10 (emphasis added). The majority says, in essence, that it cannot find an abuse of discretion if the appellants do not challenge the trial court's ultimate conclusion. As the dissent had no problem discerning, Radabaughs did challenge the trial court's conclusion that Heritage owned the funds; indeed, that challenge was the entire basis of Radabaughs' appeal. App. 13.

The Court of Appeals should have addressed the merits of the case.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with *CalPortland* and should be reviewed by this Court.

5.1.2 The decision of the Court of Appeals that nothing in the record shows that the bankruptcy court's actions affected the funds conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and of this Court.

The majority refused to engage Radabaughs' arguments regarding bankruptcy law. Without any analysis, the majority held that nothing in the record showed that the bankruptcy court's actions affected the funds.

App. 10. The majority's holding improperly abdicated the court's duty and reversed the burden of proof.

State courts are bound by bankruptcy law and cannot circumvent a discharge issued by the bankruptcy court. In re Marriage of Myers, 54 Wn. App. 233, 237, 773 P.2d 118 (1989). A discharge in bankruptcy discharges a debtor from all debts except for expressly enumerated non-dischargeable debts. 11 U.S.C. § 727. Whether an attempt at collection is barred by the discharge is a question of law. Arreygue v. Lutz, 116 Wn. App. 938, 941, 69 P.3d 881 (2003). It is incumbent on a state court faced with the question of liability of a discharged debtor to determine the nature of the liability and determine whether or not it was discharged. Emigh v. Lohnes, 21 Wn.2d 913, 914-15, 153 P.2d 869 (1944). The creditor bears the burden of proving that the debt is excepted from the discharge. Id. at 916.

The majority refused to engage in any analysis of bankruptcy law to determine whether Heritage's claim to the funds had been discharged. See App. 10. As the dissent pointed out, there was evidence in the record that Radabaughs had been discharged. App. 19. Indeed, Heritage agreed that the underlying judgment had been discharged. Id. An analysis of bankruptcy law such as that ably engaged in by the dissent demonstrates that Heritage's claim to the funds was discharged.

In addition to failing to engage in any meaningful legal analysis, the majority reversed the burden of proof. In basing its decision on an alleged lack of evidence in the record, the majority improperly placed the burden on Radabaughs to prove the discharge, instead of placing the burden on Heritage, the creditor, to prove the debt was **not** discharged.

The majority's reversal of the burden of proof and refusal to engage in an analysis of bankruptcy law to determine whether the discharge applied conflict with *Emigh* and *Myers* as well as conflicting with federal law that state courts are bound to enforce. This Court should accept review.

5.1.3 The decision of the Court of Appeals that the trial court properly disbursed the funds conflicts with Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. 162, 169, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986).

"A court which has custody of funds has the authority and the duty to distribute the funds to the party or parties that show themselves entitled thereto." Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. 162, 169, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986). As the dissent noted, the trial court ordered the funds distributed to Heritage without making any findings of fact to support its conclusion that Heritage owned the funds. See App. 19; CP 117-18. No evidence in the record supports the trial court's conclusion. See App. 19-22. The majority simply accepted the trial court's conclusion as true, without searching the record or conducting any analysis to determine whether the trial court's conclusion was made on untenable grounds. See App. 10. Heritage did not show itself entitled to the funds. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with Wilson. This Court should accept review.

5.1.4 The assumption of the Court of Appeals that Radabaughs assigned the funds to Heritage conflicts with *Amende v. Morton*, 40 Wn.2d 104, 241 P.2d 445 (1952).

The majority assumed that the trial court was correct to conclude that Radabaughs legally or equitably assigned the funds to Heritage. See

App. 14. This assumption conflicts with this Court's decision in Amende u. Morton, 40 Wn.2d 104, 241 P.2d 445 (1952). In Amende, this Court emphasized that in order for an assignment to be effective, whether legal or equitable, the intent must be clearly manifested to deprive the assignor of all control over the assigned asset. Id. at 106 ("The particular words are not important as long as the intent is manifest to deprive the assignor of control... An agreement or transfer which reserves a right of revocation to the original owner of the claim is not an effective assignment.").

In order to work an equitable assignment, the assignor must have intended to transfer a present interest in the debt or fund or subject matter and, pursuant to such intention, must have made an absolute appropriation of the thing assigned, relinquishing all control or power of revocation over it, to the use of the assignee.

Id at 106-07 (emphasis added). "An agreement to pay out of a particular fund, however definite, is not an equitable assignment." Id at 107. In Amende, this Court held that there had been no valid assignment because the purported assignment documents by their own terms conveyed only limited authority and retained control in the hands of the "assignor." Id at 107-08.

Here, the contract between Radabaughs and Heritage was similarly not a valid assignment because it did not manifest an intent to deprive Radabaughs of control over insurance payments from Grange. Radabaughs agreed to pay the contract by forwarding draws issued by Grange. CP 13. This left Radabaughs in control of the draws: Radabaughs promised to exercise that control by forwarding the draws; they did not relinquish control

to Heritage. Radabaughs also agreed to authorize Grange to pay Heritage directly or to issue two-party checks to Heritage and Radabaughs. CP 13. Grange issued two-party checks. CP 38. Radabaughs did not relinquish control of Grange funds to Heritage. Additionally, as the dissent points out, the trial court found that Radabaughs obligation to pay was never triggered under the contract; Radabaughs could not have intended to assign to Heritage money that they were not obligated to pay. App. 20-22. At most, Radabaughs agreed to pay the contract price out of a particular fund. Under Amende, such an agreement is not a legal or equitable assignment.

# 5.1.5 The decision of the Court of Appeals to grant Heritage attorney fees on appeal conflicts with *Phillips Bldg. Co.* v. An, 81 Wn. App. 696, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996)

"The prevailing party in a contract action is entitled to attorney fees if the contract authorizes such an award." *Phillips Bldg. Co. u. An*, 81 Wn. App. 696, 701, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996); RCW 4.84.330. Here, the contract provided for a fee award in an action to collect payment: "In the event this account is referred to an attorney for collection, owner agrees to pay reasonable attorney fees and court costs." CP 13. However, as a general rule, where there is no prevailing party, neither party is entitled to an attorney fee award. *Phillips*, 81 Wn. App. at 702.

In the underlying case to collect on the contract, the trial court concluded that Heritage never triggered Radabaughs' obligation to pay on the contract. CP 46. As a result, the trial court determined that neither party was a prevailing party on the contract. CP 47. Neither party appealed from

the underlying judgment, findings, and conclusions. Those unchallenged conclusions stand. There is no prevailing party on the contract.

Heritage's motion to disburse the funds was not a separate action to collect on the contract. If it was a separate action at all, it was merely an action to establish ownership of the funds. The fact that Heritage attempted to use the contract as evidence of its ownership does not convert its motion to an action to collect on the contract. If it had been an action to collect on the contract, it would have been barred by the bankruptcy discharge. In either case, the contractual attorney fee clause would not apply.

There was no basis for an award of attorney fees. The Court of Appeals abused its discretion when it awarded attorney fees despite the unchallenged judgment of the trial court that there was no prevailing party on the contract. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with *Phillips*. This Court should accept review.

# 5.2 The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

This case involves issues of substantial public importance. The majority opinion went out of its way to avoid deciding the case on its merits, in violation of the mandate of RAP 1.2 to "facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." Both the majority opinion and the trial court refused to recognize and enforce the Radabaughs' bankruptcy discharge. In doing so, the trial court directly contradicted its own, unchallenged, final judgment. The decisions of the Court of Appeals and the trial court threaten to erode

public confidence in the uniform administration of justice by Washington courts.

# 5.2.1 The majority went out of its way to avoid deciding the case on the merits.

The majority declined to reach the merits of the case on the grounds that Radabaughs had failed to assign error to the trial court's order to disburse. App. 8. However, Radabaughs' notice of appeal identified that order as the decision being appealed. CP 120. Radabaughs' first assignment of error stated, "The Trial Court Erred in Disbursing Money Held in the Registry of Court to Heritage..." Br. of Appellant at 2; App. 13. Radabaughs' briefing focused on arguments that the trial court had erred in disbursing the funds to Heritage. See App. 13-14. The briefing identified the issues on review sufficiently for the dissent to provide a capable, in-depth analysis. See App 12-23.

The majority claimed to address the merits, "In the event that we misconstrue the Radabaughs argument." App. 9. Yet its analysis still relied upon the incorrect notion that Radabaughs failed to assign error to the trial court's decision that Heritage owned the funds. App. 10. The majority held that it could not find an abuse of discretion because Radabaughs did not challenge the trial court's ultimate conclusion. This is not a decision on the merits.

Washington appellate courts operate under a mandate to liberally interpret the Rules of Appellate Procedure "to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." RAP 1.2(a). "Cases and issues will not

Yet the trial court, in reaching its decision to disburse the funds to Heritage, appeared to believe its own equitable decision was superior to the principles of bankruptcy law:

THE COURT: And so your position is that the Radabaughs get to keep this money.

MR. CUSHMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: And how is that equitable based on what's gone on in this court?

MR. CUSHMAN: That's the way bankruptcy works.

THE COURT: That's not my question.

MR. CUSHMAN: If a money judgment is awarded, whether it's on legal grounds or equitable grounds, unless it is subject to a bankruptcy exception, it is dischargeable in bankruptcy. And this court might think that there is something inequitable about a bankruptcy court freeing a debtor this court has adjudged liable from the debt, but that's just the way bankruptcy works.

RP (Mar. 30, 2015) at 8-9. The trial court's decision circumvented bankruptcy law in order to satisfy a judgment debt that had been properly discharged.

The decision of the Court of Appeals refused to engage Radabaughs' arguments regarding bankruptcy and endorsed the decision of the trial court.

The decision undermines the principles of bankruptcy law.

Radabaughs had been granted a fresh start, free from debt. The funds in the registry, which were Radabaughs' insurance proceeds, but for the judgment debt to Heritage, should have remained Radabaughs' funds because the debt was discharged. There is little value in obtaining a discharge in bankruptcy if a state court can simply disregard the discharge to enforce its own prior

judgment. The courts' disregard of bankruptcy law is an issue of public importance that this Court should review.

# 5.2.3 The trial court directly contradicted its own, unchallenged, final judgment.

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