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

II. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with 
CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC. 

The Radabaughs assert that this Court should accept review because 

the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne 

Concrete LLC, 180 Wn. App. 379, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014). (Pet. for Rev. at 

4-6.) The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with CalPortland, 

however, because it was decided, in part, based on the merits of the 

underlying issue. (Ct. App. Op. at 9-10.) 

In CalPortland, a material supplier's lawsuit was dismissed on 
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summary judgment because the supplier had not served the property owner 

where the construction project took place and because the supplier had not 

specifically used the term "foreclosure" in its action to foreclose a 

construction lien against a bond in lieu of claim of lien. CalPortland, 180 

Wn. App. at 382-83. The supplier had not served the property owner 

because the general contractor had recorded a bond in lieu of claim of lien, 

releasing the underlying real property from the supplier's lien. ld. 

On appeal, in its opening brief, the supplier assigned error to the trial 

court's determination that it was required to serve the underlying property 

owner. CalPortland, 180 Wn. App. at 392. The material supplier did not 

specifically assign error to the trial court's alternative ground for granting 

summary judgment (the failure to use the term "foreclosure" in the 

complaint), but the material supplier identified and quoted the trial court's 

alternative basis for its decision and presented substantial argument as to 

why summary judgment should not have been granted on that basis. ld. 

Because the appellate court felt the material supplier had made the nature 

of its challenge perfectly clear, it addressed the alternative summary 

judgment ground on its merits. ld. 

Even though the Court of Appeals' decision in this case stated that the 

Trial Court's decision was affirmed, in part, based on the Radabaughs' failure 

to assign error to the judgment releasing the subject funds, it also raised the 

7 



CalPortland case (Ct. App. Op. at 7) and decided the issue on the merits (Ct. 

App. Op. at 9). On the merits, the majority held the Trial Court did not abuse 

its discretion in releasing the funds to Heritage. Id. at 7. 

The Radabaughs attempt to dismiss the fact that the majority 

decided the case on the merits by arguing that because the majority 

mentioned the Radabaughs' failure to assign error to the issue in the portion 

of the opinion that addressed the merits, the majority "in reality" did not 

address the merits. (Pet. for Rev. at 6.) Although the Radabaughs may not 

be pleased with the majority's conclusion, the merits were clearly addressed 

in the decision. The majority began by setting forth facts from the record 

they felt were relevant to the Trial Court's finding that Heritage was the true 

owner of the subject funds. (Ct. App. Op. at 1-2.) It was noted that the 

Radabaughs' home was damaged by snow and rain, that the Radabaughs 

submitted a claim to their insurer, and that the Radabaughs hired Heritage 

to repair their home. I d. at 1. They quoted terms from the parties' contract 

providing that, '"[the Radabaughs agree] to immediately forward all draws 

issued as partial or full payment regarding this claim"' and, "the Radabaughs 

authorized and directed Grange to "'pay [Heritage] directly and/or include 

[Heritage] on all draws issued as partial or full payment regarding this claim."' 

Id. at 1-2. The majority noted that the parties disputed to whom the subject 

funds belonged and jointly moved the Trial Court for an order providing that 
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the insurer deposit the subject funds into the registry of court. Id. at 2. Noting 

that the Trial Court had broad discretion in determining the owner of subject 

funds and that there was nothing in the record to indicate that the bankruptcy 

court's actions affected the funds, the majority held that the Trial Court's 

decision was not manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. Id. 

at 10. Because the majority opinion addressed the merits of the Radabaughs' 

appeal, the decision does not conflict with the holding in CalPortland. 

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision that Nothing in the Record 
Shows that the Bankruptcy Court's Actions Affected the 
Subject Funds Does Not Conflict with Decisions of this Court or 
Other Decisions of the Courts of Appeal. 

The Radabaughs assert that the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts 

with In re Marriage of Myers, 54 Wn. App. 233, 773 P.2d 118 (1989), 

Arreygue v. Lutz, 116 Wn. App. 938, 69 P.3d 881 (2003), and Emigh v. 

Lohnes, 21 Wn.2d 913, 153 P.2d 869 (1944). (Pet. for Rev. at 6-8.) 

However, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with those cases. 

In re Myers involved an ex-wife's motion to increase maintenance 

payments after her ex-husband discharged in bankruptcy community debts 

for which he was responsible. In re Myers, 54 Wn. App. at 234-35, 238-39. 

The appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling that, although the ex-

husband could not be recharged with the debts, the discharge of them and 

the creditors' pursuant of the ex-wife could be considered in determining 
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whether to increase spousal maintenance payments. Id. at 235, 238-39. The 

Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not conflict with In re Myers 

because it did not recharge the Radabaughs with a debt owed to Heritage. 

Rather it merely affirmed the Trial Court's conclusions that ownership of 

the subject funds was in dispute, and as such, the funds were not part of the 

Radabaughs' bankruptcy estate, and therefore the Trial Court had the 

authority to award them to Heritage. 

In Arreygue, after an automobile accident but before the injured 

party filed suit, the tortfeasor filed for bankruptcy and obtained a discharge 

ofher debt to the injured party. Arreygue, 116 Wn. App. at 939-40. The trial 

court dismissed the case on summary judgment on the basis of the 

bankruptcy discharge, but the appellate court reversed holding that the 

injured party had the right to sue the tortfeasor for the sole purpose of 

pursuing liability against her insurance carrier. Id. at 940-45. The Court of 

Appeals' decision in this case does not conflict with Arreygue because 

Heritage had not attempted to hold anyone liable for the debt after 

discharge. Rather, Heritage merely asserted that it was the owner of the 

subject funds, the Trial Court agreed, and the Court of Appeals held that 

decision was not an abuse of discretion. 

In Emigh, a builder who was under contract with a property owner 

to construct a dwelling submitted plans and specifications for the dwelling 
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to a third party who claimed he could obtain construction financing for the 

property owner. Emigh, 21 Wn.2d at 916-17. Rather than assisting with 

financing, however, the third party altered the plans to make it appear as if 

he prepared them and then convinced the property owner to contract with 

him for the construction of the dwelling. I d. at 91 7. The builder obtained a 

judgment against the third party based on breach of trust and the third party 

subsequently received a general discharge in bankruptcy. I d. at 913-14, 917. 

On the third party's later motion to quash a writ of garnishment on the basis 

of the discharge, the court held that the builder had not met his burden of 

proof on his assertion that the judgment was exempted from the discharge 

because the underlying debt was based on fraud. Id. at 914. The Court of 

Appeals' decision here does not conflict with Emigh because the question 

of whether the Radabaughs' debt to Heritage was discharged was not at 

issue. Rather, the issue was whether Heritage owned the funds before the 

bankruptcy filing on the basis of an assignment. The Trial Court held that 

Heritage was the owner of the funds and the Court of Appeals held that 

decision was not an abuse of discretion. 

The majority fully addressed the Radabaughs' arguments regarding 

bankruptcy law and did not reverse the burden of proof on the issue of 

discharge. The majority noted that, at the time the Radabaughs' filed for 

bankruptcy, the ownership of the subject funds was in dispute and had not 
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been resolved by the Trial Court. (Ct. App. Op. at 4, fn. 5.) The majority 

referenced the Trial Court's unchallenged finding that the bankruptcy 

trustee never filed a motion in any court asserting that the Radabaughs 

owned the subject funds. Id. at 7-8. The majority noted that even though the 

Radabaughs were given the opportunity to supplement the record with 

bankruptcy documents and orders, in the end there was nothing in the record 

that showed the bankruptcy court's actions affected the subject funds. Id. at 

8, 10. Finally, the majority recognized that the Trial Court did not reform 

its initial money judgment post-bankruptcy, but rather it merely determined 

the rightful owner of the funds in the court registry. Id. at 8. 

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Wilson 
v. Henkle. 

The Radabaughs argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts 

with Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. 162, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986) because 

the Trial Court did not make findings of fact to support its conclusion that 

Heritage was the owner of the subject funds. (Pet. for Rev. at 8.) However, 

the Trial Court did make findings of fact which supported its conclusion. 

In the Henkle case, the Henkles purchased real property at a trustee's 

sale that had been owned by Wilson. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. at 164. Excess 

funds raised from the sale were deposited into the court registry. Id. Wilson 

sued the Henkles to set aside the trustee's sale, the Henkles sued Wilson for 
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unlawful detainer and the actions were consolidated. ld. Later Wilson's 

complaint was dismissed and the Henkles were awarded a money judgment. 

Id. The Henkles then filed a motion asking the court to release the court 

registry funds to them in satisfaction of their judgment. I d. 

With full knowledge of the Henkles' pending motion, Wilson's 

attorney, who had also obtained a judgment against Wilson, obtained a writ 

of garnishment against the court registry funds without informing the court 

that ownership ofthe funds was controverted. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. at 165. 

After the Henkles became aware of the attorney's actions, the writ of 

garnishment was vacated and the funds were awarded to the Henkles. Id. 

That order was affirmed because the funds were not subject to garnishment 

while on deposit in the registry of court and the decision to disburse the 

funds to the Henkles was not an abuse of discretion. Id. at 169-70. 

Here, Henkle supports the Court of Appeals' decision. The Henkles, 

as pure judgment creditors, requested that surplus proceeds of a trustee's 

sale, which belonged to Wilson, should be disbursed to them in satisfaction 

of their judgment. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. at 164. The Henkles did not assert 

that they were the owners of the funds in any way. Id. While their motion 

was pending, another creditor ofWilson (his attorney) obtained a judgment 

against Wilson and a writ of garnishment against the funds. Id. at 165. But 

even under those set of facts, the court of appeals affirmed the trial court's 
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discretionary decision to award the money to the Henkles. Id. at 171. 

Contrary to the Radabaughs' contention, the Trial Court made 

several findings which supported its decision to order the subject funds 

disbursed to Heritage. Some of those facts were contained in the Findings 

of Fact and Conclusions of law issued after the trial. (CP 34-47.) They 

included: the Radabaughs hired Heritage Restoration to repair their home 

under an insurance claim (CP 34), the Radabaughs signed a contract 

agreeing to forward all insurance draws for payment of Heritage's work and 

authorizing the insurer to pay Heritage directly (CP 36-37), that the insurer 

held proceeds of $17,157.50, and those funds were paid into the registry of 

court (CP 38). In its order disbursing the subject funds, the Trial Court found 

that the funds were insurance proceeds issued for work performed by 

Heritage. (CP 117.) Based on those findings, the Trial Court held Heritage 

was the true owner of the subject funds under an assignment. (CP 118.) 

Many of those factual findings were cited in the majority opinion. (Ct. App. 

Op. at 1-2, 10.) 

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Amende 
v. Town of Morton. 

The Radabaughs assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts 

with Amende v. Town of Morton, 40 Wn.2d 104, 241 P .2d 445 (1952). (Pet. 

for Rev. at 8-10.) Once again, however, there is no conflict. 
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In Amende, a man asserted he was the assignee of certain bonds. 

Amende, 40 Wn.2d at 105. The contracts between the man and the bond 

owners stated they were made for the purpose of liquidation and that the 

owners could terminate the agreements, they referred to the owners as the 

sole owners, and terms such as 'power of attorney' and 'bond liquidating 

agreement' were utilized. Id. at 108. Since the agreements limited the man's 

authority over the bonds and since they were terminable by the owners, the 

court held that the owners retained control over the bonds, and therefore, 

the agreements did not constitute assignments. Id. 

Unlike the agreements in the Amende case, here, the Radabaughs 

signed a contract not only providing that all insurance draws were to be 

immediately forwarded to Heritage, but also directing the insurer to pay 

Heritage directly. (CP 13.) A major factor cited in Amende in determining 

whether there was an assignment was whether the transfer was of such a 

character that, "the fund-holder can safely pay [the assignee directly], and 

is compellable to do so". Amende, 40 Wn.2d at 107. Under the clear terms 

of the assignment here, the insurer could have paid Heritage directly and 

Heritage could have compelled the insurer to pay. 

Furthermore, the Radabaughs did not retain control over the funds. 

Under the assignment, the Radabaughs agreed to "immediately forward all 

draws issued as partial or full payment regarding this claim". (CP 13.) As 
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to insurance draws issued for payment of work performed by Heritage, the 

assignment was unconditional. There is no support in Amende for the 

Radabaughs' new contention that just because the insurer initially included 

the Radabaughs' name on the check the Radabaughs retained control over 

the funds. Finally, unlike the situation in Amende, the Radabaughs did not 

have any power to revoke the assignment at any time. As such, the 

assignment in this case is distinguishable from those in Amende. 

E. The Court of Appeals' Decision to Award Heritage Restoration 
Attorneys' Fees On Appeal Does Not Conflict with Phillips Bldg. 
Co., Inc. v. An. 

The Radabaughs assert that the Court of Appeals' decision to award 

Heritage attorneys' fees on appeal conflicts with Phillips Bldg. Co., Inc. v. 

An, 81 Wn. App. 696, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996). (Pet. for Rev. at 10-11.) In 

Phillips Bldg. Co., parties to a construction contract entered into an 

agreement providing that, "[a ]ll attorneys fees and costs will be awarded to 

the prevailing party." Phillips Bldg. Co., 81 Wn. App. at 698. The parties 

arbitrated a dispute and the arbitrators made a small award to the Ans but 

declined to award attorneys' fees. Id. at 699-700. The trial court denied the 

Ans' motion to modify the arbitration award and grant them attorneys' fees 

as the prevailing party because it could not be determined from the face of 

the award that the arbitrators exceeded their authority. Id. at 700, 704. 

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Phillips Bldg. 
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Co. That case involved the arbitrators' refusal to award attorneys' fees. This 

case was tried to the Superior Court, who determined that neither party 

prevailed at trial. (CP 47.) Neither party appealed that decision. However, 

the majority determined that Heritage was the prevailing party on appeal 

because Heritage successfully defended against all of the various 

assignments of error asserted by the Radabaughs. (Ct. App. Op. at 1 0.) The 

Court of Appeals had the authority to award attorneys' fees to Heritage on 

appeal because the agreement signed by the parties provided, "In the event 

this account is referred to an attorney for collection, [the Radabaughs agree] 

to pay reasonable attorney fees and court costs." (CP 13.) As the majority 

pointed out, the Radabaughs' account was referred to Heritage's attorney 

for collection when the Complaint was filed. (Ct. App. Op. at 10.) 

F. The Radabaughs' Contention that the Majority Went Out oflts 
Way to Avoid Deciding Case on the Merits Does Not Provide 
Sufficient Basis to Accept Review. 

The Radabaughs assert that this Court should accept review because 

the majority, "went out of its way to avoid deciding the case on the merits", 

and as such, this case presents an issue of substantial public interest. (Pet.

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